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SUMMARY OF THE CASE AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

This is a direct appeal from a Judgment in A Criminal Case entered after

jury trial before the Hon. Dean Whipple, Senior District Judge, United States

District Court for the Western District of Missouri.  On August 31, 2009, appellant

Larry P. Goodyke was found guilty by a jury, after joint trial with co-defendants

David L. Robinson and Daniel W. Denham, on six counts of an eighteen-count

superseding indictment, including:  Count One, which charged all defendants

(initially including two additional co-defendants, one of whom entered a plea

agreement prior to trial and the other of whom passed away during the pendency

of the case) with conspiracy to defraud the United States in violation of 18 U.S.C.

§ 371; and Counts 2, 8, 12, 15 and 17, each of which charged fraudulent use of

government seals in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1017.  Mr. Goodyke was sentenced to

imprisonment for a term of 60 months.

 This appeal questions the sufficiency of the evidence and the

reasonableness of the sentence imposed, where the substantive statute on which

the prosecution was based has apparently never formed the basis for a criminal

prosecution within any judicial district within the Eighth Circuit.  In light of the

novelty of the issues presented, counsel respectfully submits that oral argument

should be heard, and requests an allowance of 15 minutes per side. 
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal of criminal convictions.  The United States District

Court for the Western District of Missouri has original jurisdiction over offenses

in that district against the laws of the United States.  18 U.S.C. § 3231.  The

district court’s Judgment in A Criminal Case was filed on February 11, 2010.  (R.

63-67 &Addendum).  Notice of appeal was timely filed on February 12, 2010.  (R.

68-69).  This appeal is from a final judgment in a criminal case, over which this

Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Whether the evidence was sufficient to support Goodyke’s convictions in

this case?  United States v. Cruz, 285 F.3d 692, 697 (8th Cir. 2002); United

States v. Sanchez-Mata, 925 F.2d 1166, 1168 (9th Cir. 1991).

II. Whether the district court erred by granting the government’s objections to

the total offense level found in the Presentence Investigation Report? 

United States v. Weems, 517 F.3d 1027, 1029 (8  Cir. 2008); United Statesth

v. Icaza, 492 F.3d 967, 969 (8  Cir. 2007).th
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The government charged lead defendants David L. Robinson and Daniel W.

Denham, appellant Larry P. Goodyke, and co-defendants Blake W. Bestol and

John D. Conrey in an eighteen-count superseding indictment filed August 6, 2008

(hereafter “indictment”).  (Doc. 34, R. 20-47) Count One charged all defendants

with conspiracy to defraud the United States government by combining,

confederating and agreeing, with fraudulent intent, to use, sell and transfer

diplomatic identification cards to which were fraudulently affixed the seal of the

United States Department of State between the dates of sometime prior to July 11,

2006 and October 18, 2007, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371.  

The indictment then charged the various defendants, either individually or

in various combinations aiding and abetting each other, with seventeen substantive

counts of wrongful and fraudulent use of government seals occurring within the

charged conspiracy period.  Goodyke was charged in five of these substantive

counts as follows: first, with wrongfully and fraudulently buying a fraudulent

diplomatic identification card to which the State Department seal had been

fraudulently affixed, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1017 (Count Two); and, second,

with aiding and abetting in the fraudulent sale of such cards to others, including

Larry Cohen (Count Eight), Linda Sullins (Count Twelve), Ronnie Collins (Count
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Fifteen), and Jimmy Stucki (Count Seventeen), in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1017

and 2.  Lead defendant Robinson was charged in twelve substantive counts, while

the number two defendant, Denham, was charged in seven.

Trial commenced August 24, 2009.  Co-defendant Blake Bestol, who was

charged in Counts One, Four and Six, entered a plea agreement prior to trial and

testified for the government.  The other co-defendant, John Conrey, passed away

before trial.   The jury delivered its verdicts on August 31, 2009.  Each of the three

defendants who went to trial was found guilty on all counts charged against him.

A Presentence Investigation Report (“PSR”) was prepared, which found

Goodyke’s advisory Guideline range to be 33-41 months.  (Doc. 213) The

government filed numerous objections (id., Addendum) all of which were adopted

by the district court.  The result of those modifications yielded an advisory

Guideline range of 97-121 months.  The court then followed the government’s

recommendation and imposed a below-Guideline controlling sentence of 60

months.  (Doc. 272, Transcript of Sentencing, February 8, 2010 at 4-13, 20-21)

(hereafter “Sent. Tr.”)  This appeal followed.
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STATEMENT OF FACTS

I.  THE GOVERNMENT’S EVIDENCE AT TRIAL

The government’s evidence in this case can be characterized as relating to

two distinct time frames: 1) an initial investigation, utilizing an undercover agent,

that led to the original indictment against Robinson and Denham; and 2) further

investigation, beginning with a search warrant executed for Denham’s email

account, that implicated Goodyke, Conrey and Bestol and led to the filing of the

superseding indictment. 

A.  Initial Investigation of Robinson and Denham

In December 2006 and January 2007, members of the Kansas City, Missouri

Police Department had several meetings with representatives of the Federal

Bureau of Investigation regarding unusual or questionable diplomatic

identification cards that they had encountered recently.  The local police asked if

the FBI would be willing to assist them in their investigation.  The FBI obliged by

opening “their own investigation into the production, use and sale of these

diplomatic identification cards.”  (Transcript of Jury Trial, August 24-31, 2009

(“Tr.”), Vol. I at 49)  One of the first things the FBI did was utilize an undercover

officer to initiate contact with Daniel Denham and attempt to purchase a

diplomatic card, all in an effort to “figure out where these cards were coming
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from, who was producing them, and what the steps to obtaining them were.”   (Id.

at 49-50)  

This operation was successful.  The undercover officer, Det. Rod Gentry of

the KCMO Police Department, adopted the name of Marty Riggs for the operation,

and proceeded over the early months of 2006 to have numerous meetings and

telephone conversations with both Mr. Denham and Mr. Robinson.  (Id. at 77-80) 

On February 11, 2007, Gentry attended a meeting of some 10-14 people at a karate

school in Independence, Missouri, at which Mr. Robinson was the speaker.  The

meeting was in the nature of an “educational class” in which Robinson expounded

“his views of the Constitution and so forth.”  (Id. at 95-96) 

Among the topics discussed was the process by which, as Robinson and

Denham believed, an individual could reclaim his sovereignty.  (Id. at 98)  This

process involved three basic steps, including (1) executing and notarizing an “act

of state,” this being a document that set forth an individual’s personal declaration

of sovereignty and of citizenship in the Kingdom of Heaven, (2) obtaining an

apostille for the act of state document from the local Secretary of State’s office,

and (3) obtaining a diplomatic identification card and badge.  (See, e.g., id. at 55-

59, 98, 102-110) 

 Detective Gentry went through each of the steps.  On March 20, 2007, he
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met with Robinson in Lawrence, signed his act of state, and provided Robinson

with copies of his driver’s license and social security card, along with payment of

$450.  (Id. at 101-03) He then met with Denham on March 22, 2007 and picked up

the act of state document and apostille.  (Id. at 104-09, Govt. App. Govt. Exs. 16-

17 and 16-18) Finally, on June 14, 2007, he met with Denham and received his

diplomatic identification card and badge.  (Id. at 110, Govt. App. Govt. Ex. 16-1)

Gentry then turned the badge and ID over to Special Agent Benton, who observed

the meeting from a surveillance position.  (Id. at 51)  

The front of the ID card, on the lower-left corner, includes the seal of the

U.S. Department of State.  (Id. at 52, Govt. App. Govt. Ex. 16-1)  That seal

consists of the Great Seal of the United States, surrounded with a circular border

in which the words “Department of State” appear around the top half of the circle

and the words “United States of America” appear around the bottom half. (Id. Vol.

IV at 800) (testimony of John Young, U.S. Dept. of State, Diplomatic Security) As

Agent Benton testified, the card that Gentry obtained “really concerned us”

because “on the bottom left-hand corner, this is what’s at issue in this whole case,

is a replication of the Department of State seal that’s been affixed to the ID. ...

[Y]ou can see on the top it says ‘Department of State,’ on the bottom ‘United

States of America.’” (Id. at 52)
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On September 20, 2007, federal and local officers initiated a prearranged

traffic stop of Mr. Robinson’s vehicle, during which Mr. Robinson presented

officers with his own diplomatic identification card and credentials.  A search of

his vehicle revealed another identification card in the name of Larry Terry Smith. 

Both Robinson’s card and Smith’s card also contained the State Department seal. 

(Id. Vol. IV at 906, 910)

Based on the foregoing evidence, Robinson and Denham were charged in a

four-count indictment filed in the Western District of Missouri on December 4,

2007.  (Doc. 1)  Count One of that indictment charged conspiracy and was

broadened in the superseding indictment; Counts Two-Four, which were

substantive counts based on fraudulent use of the State Department seal on the ID

cards for Gentry (in his undercover capacity as Marty Riggs), Larry Terry Smith,

and David Robinson, became Counts Eleven, Sixteen and Eighteen of the

superseding indictment. (R. 20-47)

B.  Government Evidence Regarding The Nature and Function of the

Apostille

As mentioned above, one of the steps in obtaining a diplomatic ID from

Denham and Robinson was executing a notarized act of state and obtaining an

apostille for that document.  Supra, at 5.  An apostille is a document issued
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pursuant to the provisions of the Hague Convention that functions to “legalize”

notarized documents for international use among countries that are party to that

Convention.  Specifically, the apostille verifies that the notarization on a particular

document meets the requirements of local law.  (Id. Vol. IV at 821-23 (testimony

of Kathy Sachs, Dep. Asst. Sec. of State, Kansas; 935 (Maggie Smith, Arkanas

Sec. of State’s Office))  In the United States, provision of apostilles on documents

for domestic citizens is handled by the Offices of the Secretary of State of

individual States; the U.S. Department of State only provides apostilles to U.S.

consulates, foreign consulates, and federal agencies.  (Id. at 955 (testimony of

Patrick Hatchett, U.S. State Dept. Authentications Office))  

When these State offices affix an apostille to a notarized document, the

apostille does not authenticate or say anything at all about the underlying

document itself – rather, it simply verifies that the person who notarized the

document is in fact a registered notary in good standing within that State and that

the notary signature and seal on the document fairly match those on file for that

notary in the Secretary of State’s office.  (Id. at 821-23, 935-36) Apostilles are

sometimes used, for example, in foreign adoptions and in some international

business transactions.  (Id. at 826)
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C.  Additional Evidence Obtained by Search Warrant

After the filing of the initial indictment, the FBI obtained a search warrant

for Denham’s e-mail account.  As explained by Special Agent Benton, “[d]uring

the review of Mr. Denham’s e-mails, three individuals really stood out to us as

helping Mr. Denham to design the ID, to improve on the ID, to get the ID out to

end-users, and those three individuals were Mr. Blake Bestol, Mr. John Conrey,

and Mr. Larry Goodyke.”  (Id. at 61) Warrants were then executed on the e-mail

accounts of Goodyke and Bestol.  (Id.)  On April 8, 2008, Goodyke’s home was

searched pursuant to a warrant, resulting in the seizure of his computers,

documents and other items. (Id. Vol. III at 462-558) The additional evidence

obtained from these searches and seizures led to the filing of the superseding

indictment.  (R. 20-47)

The e-mails retrieved through the FBI investigation revealed that Goodyke

was initially a customer of Denham.  (Id. Vol. II at 275)  On July 11, 2006,

Goodyke e-mailed Denham, saying “Hi, Dan, This is Larry Goodyke, per our

conversation last night, I am interested in acquiring the diplomatic immunity status

and ID, I am in Nevada.  Please provide me with the information I need to get to

you and also the grand total cost it will take me to achieve this.”  (Id. at 207) 

Denham responded with the information needed and the cost, which Goodyke
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supplied, and, after several e-mails back and forth and numerous delays, an

October 6, 2006 e-mail from Goodyke to Denham confirmed that he had received

his ID and badge.  (Id. at 208-18)

In this same October 6, 2006 e-mail, Goodyke asked whether Denham made

the ID’s himself or whether someone else made them, and said “I believe I can

improve on them, not changing any wording but including the quality.  Let me

know what you think.  Just trying to make things easier, simpler, and better.”  (Id.

at 218-19) Denham responded later that same day, “Larry, I’d be glad to receive

any improvements that you have made.”  (Id. Vol. IV at 981-82) Two days later,

Goodyke e-mailed Denham a transparency of the Department of State seal,

suggesting that Denham “[f]orward it to your guys and see if they can use it.”  (Id.

at 982)

In a December 13, 2006 e-mail, Goodyke advised Denham that he had

found another company that could make badges and ID’s, but “the only problem is

they don’t have and don’t know of the Great Seal of the United States of America.

... I don’t know if they can make it or not, but I am going to contact them and see

if this is possible.”  (Id. at 988-89)

At some point, possibly as early as September 2006, Goodyke began

preparing act of state documents and ID cards for other people who shared the
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beliefs espoused by Denham, Robinson and, by now, Goodyke himself.  (See

Govt. App. Govt. Exs. 29-42 (ID’s), 29-44(act of state documents))  Goodyke’s

computer contained digital images of diplomatic ID cards for 83 people other than

himself that were apparently created between September 2006 and January 2008. 

(Govt. App. Govt. Ex. 29-42)  In May 2007, through a series of e-mails, Denham

referred Goodyke to his “apostille man,” Mr. Robinson, and Goodyke began

utilizing Robinson to obtain apostilles for his customers from that point forward. 

(Id. at 1014-24) On June 28, 2007, Denham e-mailed Goodyke to inform him that

he would immediately begin referring his own customers directly to Goodyke for

the entire diplomatic credential process (act of state, apostille, and ID/badge).  (Id.

Vol. V at 1041-43)

Of the 83 people (other than himself) for whom digital images of ID cards

existed on Goodyke’s computer, 69 had a version on which the circle around the

great seal did not contain the language “Department of State.”   (Govt. App. Govt.

Exs. 29-42) Of course, some of the card images for the other 14 individuals may

have been deleted from Goodyke’s computer.  At a minimum, however, this

computer evidence suggests that, very early on, Mr. Goodyke discontinued use of

the State Department seal that Denham and Robinson had used.  Indeed, for each

of the charged substantive counts against Mr. Goodyke alleging sale of a
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diplomatic ID to a third person – Larry Cohen, Ronnie Collins, Linda Sullins, and

Jimmie Stucki – the physical ID cards that those individuals obtained from

Goodyke do NOT contain seals bearing any language referencing the State

Department.  (See Govt. App. Govt. Exs. 14-34 (Cohen), 19-1 (Collins), 17-16

(Sullins), 21-3 (Stucki))

The other substantive count against Goodyke, Count Two, charges him with

obtaining his own ID card (with a Kansas apostille) from Denham on October 6,

2006.  That ID card was not produced in evidence and, although a digital image of

a card in Goodyke’s name and with a Kansas apostille was found on his computer,

that image appears to have made in August 2006.  (Govt. App. Govt. Ex. 29-42) 

No evidence was presented at trial that Goodyke ever used that card, either with

fraudulent intent or otherwise.

D.  Evidence Regarding Mens Rea

Goodyke, as has been noted, became involved with Denham initially as a

customer.  (Tr. Vol. II at 275) The belief system to which Denham and Robinson

subscribed was based in part on the teachings of an individual named Clyde

Powell, who had published written works as well as some 88 hours of material on

DVD.  (See, e.g., id. Vol. II at 162-73) 

As part of his undercover operation, Detective Gentry reviewed the Clyde
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Powell DVD’s and had numerous conversations with both Denham and Robinson

regarding their beliefs as to sovereignty, execution of acts of state, and diplomatic

status.  (Id.)  Gentry’s impression regarding Denham and Robinson was

unequivocal: “Both gentlemen seemed very sincere every time we talked.  You

could hear it in their voices.”  (Id. Vol. II at 180) In Gentry’s view, both men

viewed the act of state and diplomatic identification process as legal.  (Id. at 181)

Goodyke also studied the materials of Clyde Powell and the underpinnings

of Denham and Robinson’s belief system.  (See, e.g., Govt. App. Govt. Ex. 10-18

(9/8/06 e-mail from Denham to Goodyke attaching Clyde Powell docs and

informing Goodyke that he is “burning” his DVD’s); Govt. App. Govt. Ex. 10-35

(2/5/07 e-mail from Denham to Goodyke stating that he now has a “full set of the

Clyde Powell paperwork - much more than I previously sent.  Are you still

wanting to receive these items?”; Goodyke responds “Yes, I would like all that

you have from Clyde ....”))

Goodyke appears to have taken this study quite seriously.  For example, on

December 13, 2006, he sent an e-mail to Denham in which he asked about a

seeming divergence between Powell’s teaching and Denham and Robinson’s:

“Dan, Clyde in his docs speaks mostly of reaffirmation of dual citizenship, but in

the act of state it refers to reaffirmation of character.  Is there something I am

Appellate Case: 10-1366     Page: 18      Date Filed: 06/16/2010 Entry ID: 3675044



14

missing?”  (Id. Vol. IV at 988) Denham responded, “We changed it as we are

making a declaration of fact of who we actually are.  We don’t want to be dual

citizens.  We don’t want to be citizens of anything other than the Kingdom of

God.”  (Id.)

On May 5, 2007, Goodyke e-mailed Denham stating that “in our

conversation the other night, you had very quickly mentioned that we do not need

an Apostille for the Act of State.  What exactly did you mean by that?  Is there

another way to Apostille or Certify the document.  I request you[r] knowledgeable

explanation.”  Denham responded that presentation of the act of state for apostille

“is merely a manner of courtesy, not a requirement.  The apostille number is

merely proof that they have received, recognized, and accepted it.”  Denham was

speaking from the standpoint that “God is in control and all are accountable to

their Creator.”  (Govt. App. Govt. Ex. 10-36) Apparently, Goodyke’s research led

him to believe that the apostille played an important part in the process, at least as

far as validity and legality under man-made law was concerned.  (See, e.g., Govt.

App. Govt. Ex. 29-21) (document from Goodyke’s computer titled “United States

of America Seal Use Authorization” setting forth legal basis for use of the Great

Seal and the apostille process under the Vienna and Hague Conventions)

Significantly, every witness at trial who met and spoke with Goodyke
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testified that he appeared to genuinely believe that the diplomatic ID process was

legal.  Co-defendant Blake Bestol, for example, who pled guilty and agreed to

cooperate with the government, testified that he had numerous conversations with

Goodyke, and that Goodyke not only always expressed the belief that the process

of obtaining diplomatic ID’s as a sovereign and citizen of the Kingdom of Heaven

was completely legal, but also provided Bestol with the legal authorities and treaty

citations upon which that belief was based.  (Id. Vol. II at 381-82)

Kyle Greg Larson, a customer of Goodyke’s, also studied Mr. Powell’s

materials and discussed the diplomatic process with Goodyke.  Mr. Goodyke

always expressed his belief that the process was legal, a belief that Larson himself

shared.  (Id. at 421-23) 

Jimmy Stucki met Goodyke during the summer of 2007, and Goodyke

explained to him in detail the legal authorities that, in Goodyke’s view, justified

the diplomatic ID process, and his belief that the process was legal.  (Id. at 736-37)

 Another customer, Denaud Egana, testified that Goodyke appeared to be a

spiritual person who was sincere in his beliefs regarding the legality of the

diplomatic process.  (Id. at 784) 

II.  THE SENTENCING HEARING

Goodyke’s oral motion for judgment of acquittal at the close of the
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government’s case was denied by the court (id. Vol. V at 1160), as was his written

motion filed after the jury returned its verdicts (Docs. 195, 205).

The court ordered that a PSR be prepared, and that report found that the

applicable Guideline for the crimes of conviction was United States Sentencing

Guideline § 2B1.1 which provides a base offense level of 6.  (PSR ¶ 158) The PSR

found that the victim in the case was the United States government, and that the

government did not suffer pecuniary loss from the offense.  Accordingly, it did not

assign any increase in offense level for amount of loss or number of victims.  (Id.

¶¶ 159, 162) The PSR did assign a “sophisticated means” enhancement, which is

normally 2 levels unless the resulting offense level is under 12 (which it was here),

in which case the enhancement requires the offense level be raised to 12, along

with a 2-level enhancement for use of authentication feature, a 4-level

enhancement for role in the offense, and a 2-level enhancement for obstruction of

justice.  (Id. ¶¶ 160-61, 163-64) This calculation yielded a total offense level of

20.  (Id. ¶ 167) At Goodyke’s criminal history category of I, therefore, the

advisory Guideline range was 33-41 months imprisonment.  (Id. ¶¶ 172, 200)

Both parties filed objections to the PSR (Id. Addendum), although Goodyke

withdrew his objections to the Guideline calculations at sentencing.  (Sent. Tr. at

3) The government did not object to application of 2B1.1, but argued that
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additional enhancements were appropriate.  The government’s position was that

the base offense level of 6 should be increased under 2B1.1(b)(1)(F) by 8 levels

for loss over $70,000 (treating “amount of loss” as the defendants’ proceeds from

customers), by 4 levels under 2B1.1(b)(2)(B) for more than 50 victims (treating

every customer as a “victim”), and by 2 levels under 2B1.1(b)(8)(A) for

misrepresentation that defendants were acting on behalf of a government agency. 

(Id. Addendum at 6) The government agreed with the enhancements assessed by

the PSR for sophisticated means, use of an authentication feature, role in the

offense, and obstruction of justice.  (Id. at 6-7) Thus, the government argued that

Goodyke’s total offense level should be 30, for an advisory Guideline sentencing

range of 97-121 months.  (Id. at 7)

At sentencing, the district court adopted all of the government’s objections. 

(Sent. Tr. at 9-11) It then followed the government’s sentencing recommendation

and, after considering the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553, imposed a

controlling sentence of 60 months.  (Id. at 12-23)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The government failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Goodyke 

acted with criminal intent.  To the contrary, the evidence at trial established that

Goodyke acted in good faith pursuant to his own deeply held beliefs, supported by
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his understanding of applicable law and treaties.  One may disagree with Mr.

Goodyke’s views, but on the evidence presented at trial, no rational juror could

find beyond a reasonable doubt that he did not hold them in good faith. 

Accordingly, judgment of acquittal should have been granted on all counts. 

United States v. Cruz, 285 F.3d 692, 697 (8th Cir. 2002); United States v.

Sanchez-Mata, 925 F.2d 1166, 1168 (9th Cir. 1991).

The district court also erred when it adopted the government’s objections to

the PSR.  The Probation Office correctly determined the advisory Guideline level

in this case.  Because the court below failed to apply the correct Guideline level,

the matter should be remanded for resentencing.  United States v. Weems, 517

F.3d 1027, 1029 (8  Cir. 2008); United States v. Icaza, 492 F.3d 967, 969 (8  Cir.th th

2007).

ARGUMENT

I. THE GOVERNMENT FAILED TO PROVE
THAT GOODYKE ACTED WITH CRIMINAL INTENT

A. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the sufficiency of the evidence to sustain a conviction de

novo.  See, e.g., United States v. Cruz, 285 F.3d 692, 697 (8th Cir. 2002). “In

reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a guilty verdict, [this Court]
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look[s] at the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict and accept[s] as

established all reasonable inferences supporting the verdict.”  Id. (quoting United

States v. Campa-Fabela, 210 F.3d 837, 839 (8  Cir. 2000)).  This Court “willth

uphold a jury verdict if substantial evidence supports it.”  Cruz, 285 F.3d at 697. 

Substantial evidence exists if a reasonable jury could have found the defendant

guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.  Id.  This Court will not overturn a jury verdict

lightly, and reversal is appropriate only where a reasonable jury could not have

found all of the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt.  United States

v. Armstrong, 253 F.3d 335, 336 (8  Cir. 2001).th

B. The Conspiracy Charge 

To convict a defendant of criminal conspiracy, the government must prove

beyond a reasonable doubt (1) the existence of an agreement to achieve an

unlawful purpose, (2) the defendant’s knowledge of that agreement, and (3) the

defendant’s knowing participation in the conspiracy.  United States v. Mora-

Higuera, 269 F.3d 905, 910 (8  Cir. 2001).  th

Although a conspiracy may be inferred from circumstantial evidence, the

requirement of an unlawful agreement is not a formality:  the government must

present actual evidence from which the existence of a conspiracy may be inferred

beyond a reasonable doubt.  United States v. Cruz, 285 F.3d 692 (8  Cir. 2002). th
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The existence of the unlawful agreement is “the sine qua non of the statutory

crime of conspiracy,” United States v. Wilson, 160 F.3d 732, 737 (D.C. Cir. 1998),

and as such requires “firm evidence of at least tacit coordination among

conspirators,” United States v. Pearce, 912 F.2d 159, 162 (6  Cir. 1990), and “isth

not to be lightly inferred,” United States v. White, 569 F.2d 263, 267 (5  Cir.th

1978).  

If and only if the government proves the existence of the charged criminal

conspiracy, then it need only provide evidence “establishing beyond a reasonable

doubt a connection of a [particular] defendant with the conspiracy.”  United States

v. DeLuna, 763 F.2d 897, 924 (8  Cir. 1985).  However, “[e]vidence ofth

association or acquaintance with a known [criminal] and mere presence at the

location of the crime alone, even when coupled with knowledge of crime, are not

sufficient to establish guilt on a conspiracy charge.”  Cruz, supra.

In this case, the government was obligated to prove that “on or before

sometime prior to July 11, 2006, two or more persons reached an agreement or

understanding to buy, procure, sell and transfer, and use documents commonly

referred to as diplomatic identification cards, with a fraudulently affixed seal of

the United States Department of State, defendants knowing of the fraudulent

nature of such diplomatic cards.”  (Jury Instruction No. 18) (Doc. 192 at 24)
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Further, the government was obligated to prove that Goodyke joined in the

agreement or understanding, and that at the time he did so, he “knew the purpose

of the agreement or understanding.”  (Id.)

C.  The Substantive Counts

Under each of Counts Two, Eight, Twelve, Fifteen and Seventeen, the

government required to prove that Goodyke engaged in the purchase, sale, transfer

or use of a diplomatic ID card, knowing that the seal of the United States

Department of State had been fraudulently affixed to the card, and did so with

fraudulent intent.  (Jury Instruction No. 23) (Doc. 192 at 33) Under the aiding and

abetting theory charged in Counts Eight, Twelve, Fifteen and Seventeen, the

government was required to prove that Goodyke knew that the wrongful offense

was being committed and knowingly acted to aid the commission of the offense,

knowing the fraudulent character of the diplomatic ID card.  (Id.)  

A defendant who aids and abets the commission of a crime is punishable as

a principal. In order to establish guilt as an aider and abetter, the government must

show that the defendant knew about the crime, willfully associated himself with

the criminal venture, and sought to make the venture succeed through some act of

his own. United States v. Mitchell, 388 F.3d 1139, 1143-44 (8th Cir. 2004);

United States v. Rojas, 356 F.3d 876, 878 (8th Cir. 2004). Thus, aiding and
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abetting liability requires proof of an affirmative, knowing act by the defendant,

done with the specific intent to aid the commission of the substantive offense.

D.  The Government Failed To Prove Criminal Intent

It is with respect to the key mens rea elements of the conspiracy and

substantive counts that the government’s proof failed at trial.  Simply put,

Goodyke never entered an agreement to produce fraudulent ID’s, never trafficked

in diplomatic ID’s with fraudulent intent, and never intended to aid the

commission of that offense.  To the contrary, the evidence at trial demonstrated

that Goodyke became a customer of Denham and purchased the ID card identified

in Count Two in good faith, and that he continued to participate in the activities of

Denham and Robinson in an honest effort to “make things easier, simpler, and

better,” (R. Vol. II at 218-19), and not with intent to defraud.

From the beginning, Goodyke’s intent was to develop the ID cards into a

form of identification that would allow persons not affiliated with the Kingdom of

Heaven to understand the independent sovereignty claimed by those who shared

the beliefs of Denham, Robinson and himself.  This was, to put it mildly, a

difficult proposition.  A perfect example of this difficulty is found in Govt. App.

Govt. Ex. 9-7, an August 18, 2007 e-mail from Goodyke to Denham.  In that e-

mail, Goodyke says “Dan, just to let you know that I am changing our people’s ID
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cards, believe it or not, but we have had two people arrested for ‘forgery’ because

of the SOS signatures on the ID’s.”  Goodyke went on to explain that the need to

change the card had nothing to do with anything improper about the card itself, but

rather with the obduracy and ignorance of local officials:  “We all know that is

B.S. because it is a representation of the Apostille, but the ‘B.S. Authorities’ are

interpreting the Ids to be some sort of Drivers License or Governmental ID.  So to

reduce any further incidences I will be removing the ‘signature’ of the SOS from

the IDs.”  (Id.)

There is no direct evidence that Goodyke used any seal on any ID with

fraudulent intent, and all of the circumstantial evidence indicates that he acted in

complete good faith.  He clearly believed that use of the great seal was legally

necessary on the ID’s, and that it would be a false representation NOT to use it, an  

understanding that flowed from his study of the treaties and the law governing

diplomatic relations.  (See Govt. App. Govt. Ex. 29-21) He may not initially have

drawn a distinction between the great seal and the Department of State seal, but he

quickly removed the words “Department of State” from the seal used on the ID’s. 

(See Govt. App. Govt. Exs. 29-42, 29-43) To any reasonable layman’s – or even

reasonable employee of the U.S. Department of State’s – understanding, he was

thereafter not using the Department of State seal at all, much less fraudulently. 
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(See Tr. Vol. IV at 801-03) (testimony of John Young, U.S. Dept. of State,

Diplomatic Security that Cohen ID depicts Great Seal, not State Dept. seal)  Most

importantly, however, the evidence established that he was not using any seal with

fraudulent intent, and did not enter any agreement to do so.

One may disagree with Mr. Goodyke’s views.  But on the evidence

presented at trial, no rational juror could find beyond a reasonable doubt that he

did not hold them in good faith.  (See Facts, Part I.D., supra) As the court properly

instructed the jury: “Fraudulent intent is not presumed or assumed; it is personal

and not imputed. ... Bad Faith is an essential element of fraudulent intent. ... One

who expresses an opinion honestly held by him, or a belief honestly entertained by

him, is not chargeable with fraudulent intent even though such opinion is

erroneous and such belief is a mistaken belief. ... In order to establish fraudulent

intent on the part of a person, it must be established that such person knowingly

and intentionally attempted to deceive another.”  (Jury Instruction No. 25) (Doc.

192 at 36)

This instruction should have disposed of this case, either by not guilty

verdicts or by judgment of acquittal.  The convictions against Goodyke should be

reversed.
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II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY SUSTAINING THE
GOVERNMENT’S OBJECTIONS TO THE PSR

A.  Standard of Review

This Court reviews the district court’s interpretation and application of the

advisory Sentencing Guidelines de novo and its findings of fact for clear error. 

United States v. Weems, 517 F.3d 1027, 1029 (8  Cir. 2008); United States v.th

Icaza, 492 F.3d 967, 969 (8  Cir. 2007).th

B.  Argument

The government’s objections to the PSR sought the inclusion of three

enhancements in addition to those already found by the Probation Office: an 8-

level increase for amount of loss over $70,000, a 4-level increase for more than 50

victims, and a 2-level increase for misrepresentation that the defendants were

acting on behalf of a government agency.  (PSR Addendum)  

The objections relating to amount of loss and number of victims are

inextricably intertwined.  The PSR found that the victim in this case was the

United States government.  Given that premise, and the undisputed fact that the

government did not suffer pecuniary loss as a result of the defendants’ actions, it

follows that there is no loss in the case.  See U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1 Appl. Note 3.

Thus, in order for the government to argue, as it does, that the defendants’
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proceeds should be used to determine a loss amount, it also must argue that the

customers who were the source of those proceeds were victims of the offense. 

(See PSR Addendum at 2) The government cannot carry this argument.  As the

Probation Office pointed out, the purchasers were not misled when they bought

the diplomatic ID’s and were not defrauded in any way.  Accordingly, “they are

not viewed as legitimate victims of the offenses and are not entitled to restitution.” 

(Id. at 1)  

The government then attempts to argue that “whether or not a particular

individual purchaser was a victim of fraud, the amount the defendants received is a

measure of the scope of the conduct that was not otherwise taken into account in

the Preliminary PSRs.”  (Id. at 2) This argument simply ignores the fact that if the

purchasers were not victims, then their purchases cannot form the basis for a loss

calculation.  As the Probation Office correctly stated: “According to the

guidelines, there must be a loss to a victim.”  (Id. at 5)  

Ultimately, it seems that the government’s frustration is not with the

reasoning of the PSR, but with the Guidelines themselves.  Thus, the government

complains that strict application of 2B1.1 “fails to further the sentencing

objectives in the guidelines,” and that “[b]y sentencing what was treated as a

‘contraband’ crime under a ‘fraud’ guideline, the preliminary PSR wholly fails to
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apply enhancements necessary to account for the seriousness of the defendant’s

conduct.”  (Id. at 1, 2) The response of the Probation Office to this complaint is

dispositive: “[U]nder the statute which the defendants were convicted, the

applicable guidelines are 2B1.1.”  (Id. at 2) Even the government concedes that the

Probation Office is correct on that point.  (Id. at 2) (“The government does not

object to application of U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1 to these defendants.”)

The government’s argument that a 2-level enhancement should be applied

because the defendant “misrepresented himself as acting on behalf of a

government agency” (id. at 6) is fundamentally misguided.  The evidence at trial

uniformly proved that the defendants represented themselves as acting on behalf

of the Kingdom of Heaven, and uniformly distanced themselves from any

affiliation with the government or any government agency.   See Facts, supra.

For the foregoing reasons, the district court erred when it adopted the

government’s objections to the PSR.  (Sent. Tr. at 9-10) The advisory Guideline

range should have been 33-41 months, as found in the PSR.  Because the court

failed to apply the correct advisory Guideline range, Goodyke’s sentences should

be vacated and the case remanded for resentencing.  Weems, supra.
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CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, for all of the foregoing reasons, appellant Goodyke requests

that this Court vacate his convictions and remand the matter for entry of an order

of acquittal on all charges, or in the alternative vacate his sentences on all counts

and remand the case for resentencing.

Respectfully submitted,

____________________________ 
Alex McCauley, MO#52632
JENAB & MCCAULEY LLP
110 S. Cherry, Suite 200
Olathe, KS 66061
Tel (913) 390-5023
Fax (913) 764-5539
Attorney for Appellant Larry Goodyke
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ADDENDUM
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